IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-0085

THE STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

LEE SAMUEL CHRISTENSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR EMMET COUNTY CASE NO. FECR010898 HONORABLE DAVID A. LESTER THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF IOWA

> APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

> > LEON F. SPIES PIN: AT0007456 Spies, Pavelich & Foley, Attorneys 312 E. College Street, Suite 216 Iowa City, IA 52240 (319) 337-4193 (319)337-2396 (fax) spies@spaflegal.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING LEE CHRISTENSEN'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WHEN JURORS VIOLATED THE COURT'S ADMONITIONS AND DEMONSTRATED JUROR MISCONDUCT AND BIAS?

State v. Webster, 865 N.W.2d 223, 231 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Hendrickson, 444 N.W.2d 468, 472 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Cullen, 357 N.W.2d 24, 27 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Harrington, 349 N.W.2d 758, 761 (Iowa 1984)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(9)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(2)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(3)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.606(b)

Ryan v. Arneson, 422 N.W.2d 491, 495 (Iowa 1988)

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

Article I, Sections 9 and 10, of the Iowa Constitution

Parker v. Gladden, 385 U.S. 363, 364, 87 S. Ct. 468, 470, 17 L.Ed.2d 420, 422 (1966)

Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 229, 74 S. Ct. 450, 451, 98 L.Ed.2d 654, 656 (1954)

United States v. Lawson, 677 F.3d 629, 643 (4th Cir. 2012)

United States v. Dutkel, 192 F.3d 893, 897-898 (9th Cir. 1999)

United States v. Rutherford, 371 F.3d 634, 644 (9th Cir. 2004)

United States v. Tucker, 137 F.3d 1016, 1030 (8th Cir. 1998)

United States v. Hall, 116 F.3d 1253, 1255 (8th Cir. 1997)

United States v. Cheek, 94 F.3d 136 (4th Cir. 1996)

Doe v. Johnston, 476 N.W.2d 28, 35 (Iowa 1991)

Daniels v. Bloomquist, 258 Iowa 301, 306, 138 N.W.2d 868, 871 (1965)

State v. Carey, 165 N.W. 2d 27, 30 (Iowa 1969)

Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b)

Lozano v. State, 584 So.2d 19, 22 (Fla. 1991)

Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 505, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 1693, 49 L.Ed.2d 26, 131 (1976)

Powell v. Superior Court, 232 Cal. App.3d 785, 801 (1991)

State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 910 (Iowa 2003)

Kirk v. Raymark Industries, Inc. 61 F.3d 147, 153 (3rd Cir. 1995)

Government of the Virgin Islands v. Dowling, 814 F.2d 134, 139 (3rd Cir. 1987)

State v. Beckwith, 242 Iowa 228, 238-39, 46 N.W.2d 20, 26 (1951)

State v. Teale, 154 Iowa 677, 682, 135 N.W. 408, 410 (1912)

State v. Henning, 545 N.W.2d 322, 325 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Johnson, 445 N.W.2d 337, 342 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Christianson, 337 N.W.2d 502, 506 (Iowa 1983)

Wallace v. United States, 412 F.2d 1097 (D.C. Cir 1969)

State v. Napulou, 936 P.2d 1297 (Hi. Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Gouveia, 384 P.2d 846, 856 (Hawaii 2016)

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING LEE CHRISTENSEN'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL ARISING FROM PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DURING THE TESTIMONY OF TWO STATE'S WITNESSES?

State v. Greene, 592 N.W.2d 24, 31 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Dixon, 534 N.W.2d 435, 439 (Iowa 1995)
State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894 (Iowa 2003)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(5)

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution

Article I, Section 9 of the Constitution of the State of Iowa

State v. Graves, N.W.2d 860, 867 (Iowa 2003)

DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 64 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 556 (Iowa 2010)

Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution

Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609, 612-15, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 1232-33, 14 L.Ed.2d 106, 109-10 (1965)

State v. Taylor, 336 N.W.2d. 721, 727 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Craig, 490 N.W.2d 795, 797 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Singh, 2011 WL 538729 at *4 (Iowa App. 2011)

Musedinovic v. State, 2013 WL 5758232 at *1 (Iowa App. 2013)

State v. Williamson, 570 N.W.2d 770, 771 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Jackson, 587 N.W.2d 764, 766 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Plaster, 424 N.W.2d 226, 232 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Hamby, 210 Iowa App. LEXIS 308 at *14-15 (Iowa App. 2010)

ROUTING STATEMENT

In accordance with Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a), Appellant contends that this case involves the application of existing legal principles and may be transferred to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case.

Appellant Lee Samuel Christensen appeals following his jury trial from a judgment of conviction and sentence for the crime of murder in the second degree, in violation of Iowa Code §707.3(1). The Honorable David Lester, judge of the Third Judicial District of Iowa, presided at his trial and sentencing.

Course of Proceedings.

On July 22, 2015, the State charged Christensen by trial information with murder in the first degree, alleging that on June 6, 2015, Christensen murdered Thomas Lee Bortvit in violation of Iowa Code §707.1 and 707.2(1)(a) or (b). (Trial Information; App. 5). Following his plea of not guilty, trial was set for February 16, 2016. (Order Fixing Dates After Arraignment; App. 7). After dismissal of the felony murder alternative (Order; App. 10), trial began on June 21, 2016, and on July 1, 2016, the jury returned a verdict finding Christensen guilty of murder in the second degree (Verdict; App. 23). On August 15, 2016, Christensen filed a motion for a new trial (Motion for New Trial; App. 24) and on August 15, 2016, filed a motion for jury poll (Motion for Jury Poll; App. 29). Following hearing on the motions, the district court on December 2, 2016, overruled the Defendant's new trial motion (Ruling on Defendant's Motion for New Trial; App. 32). On December 21, 2016, Christensen was sentenced to an indeterminate term not to exceed 50 years. (Judgment and Sentence; App. 53)

On January 16, 2017, Christensen filed his notice of appeal (Notice of Appeal; App. 57).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 6, 2015, 19-year-old Thomas Bortvit, a graduate of Estherville High School and a student at Iowa Lakes Community College (Trial Transcript Vol. I, hereinafter "TT I," p. 38 L17- p. 39 L12), was working in the meat department at the Fareway store in Estherville, scheduled to work from 11:00 in the morning until later that night. (TT I, p. 125 L16 – p. 126 L25). Bortvit had been dating Cayley Fehr, another Estherville High student who Lee Christensen had earlier befriended and at times also dated. At some time during the afternoon of June 6, Christensen was seen purchasing meat at Fareway, although no one saw Christensen and Bortvit talking to one another. (TT I, p. 83 L21 – p. 85 L7). Christensen's truck was also seen in the Fareway parking lot. (Trial Transcript Vol. III, hereinafter "TT III," p. 174 L1-4).

At about 4:00 p.m., Bortvit took his ordinary afternoon break, telling fellow employees goodbye, waving and smiling. (TT I, p. 103 L10-25) Bortvit never returned to the store, nor was he seen alive thereafter.

During the afternoon Bortvit's girlfriend, Cayley Fehr, traveling by bus to a 4-H program in Washington, D.C., exchanged several text messages with Bortvit during which Bortvit indicated that he was with Christensen, who had asked Bortvit for a ride because Christensen's truck had broken down. (TT III, p. 282 L7 – p. 283 L4). Fehr was in part amused and surprised by this, knowing of the antipathy that Bortvit had expressed toward Christensen. (TT III, p. 288 L4 – p. 290 L20). Later in the day Fehr received another text message from Bortvit's phone stating that Bortvit no longer wanted to date or see Fehr, and that they should plan to see other people. (TT III, p. 282 L7 – p. 283 L4). She later received a text message from Christensen stating he had killed Bortvit. (TT III, p. 282 L7 – p. 283 L. 23)

12

Late in the afternoon, Bortvit's sister attempted to reach her brother by text message and cell phone calls. She received a text message from Bortvit indicating that he had taken the afternoon off to be with a friend "Alec," who Bortvit's sister knew was away at school. (TT I, p. 54 L19 – p. 58 L18). Bortvit's car was not in the Fareway parking lot where it ordinarily was parked, and efforts to locate him were unsuccessful. (TT I, p. 128 L4-16; p. 59 L23 – p. 61 L19).

Earlier in the day, Christensen and his family had attended a community celebration for cancer survivors, after which Christensen's parents, Dean and Denise, returned to their home in Estherville to prepare to attend a wedding later that evening. (TT III, p. 75 L4 – p. 76 L13; p. 103 L10-15). Christensen stayed downtown to spend time with his grandmother, herself a cancer survivor. (Trial Transcript Vol. V, hereinafter "TT V," p. 80 L10-22). At about 4:30 in the afternoon, both Christensen's mother and sister, Claire, texted Christensen to ask where he was and he responded that he was with his friend Dakota working on Dakota's motorcycle. (TT III, p. 109 L14-25; TT V, p. 59 L22 – p. 62 L16). Christensen arrived home around 5:00 or 5:30 wearing a soiled t-shirt and jeans. (TT V, p. 65 L1 - p. 66 L22). After showering, Christensen and his sister went to a downtown sandwich shop (TT V, p. 69 L7-25) where Christensen was observed to be

normal and cheerful. (TT V, p. 70 L8-24). Christensen and his sister returned home where they watched TV after which Christensen abruptly went upstairs to his room. (TT V, p. 75 L1-19).

Late that night, Bortvit's friends located his car parked and locked in a residential area of Estherville and police and community members began an area-wide search in an attempt to locate Bortvit. (TT I, p. 140 L9-15; p. 142 L4-18; p. 151 L3 – p. 152 L9; p. 226 L11 – p. 227 L25).

The following day, Christensen (a star high school track athlete) and his mother prepared to fly to Arizona for a long-planned trip for Christensen to attend a cross-country sports camp, and for his mother to visit friends she had known when she taught in the Phoenix area. (TT III, p. 40 L5 – p. 41 L10). Driving to Sioux Falls to catch their flight to Arizona, Denise Christensen learned from Facebook that Bortvit was missing. (TT III, p. 114 L22 – p. 115 L. 6). When she mentioned this to Christensen, he didn't respond but sat quietly. (TT III, p. 115 L21 – p. 116 L13). In the meantime, Christensen's father, Dean, was himself participating in the search to locate Bortvit. (TT III, p. 41 L23 – p. 42 L18).

Police officers, having learned that Bortvit had been with Christensen, went to the Christensen home and informed Christensen's sister that they wanted to speak with Lee. (TT I, p. 77 L16-20; p. 164 L6-25). Claire, in

14

turn, conveyed this request by text to her mother who learned about it when she and Christensen landed in Arizona. (TT III, p. 119 L1-19). When she asked Christensen if he had seen Bortvit, Christensen replied that "Thomas didn't say much," and that Bortvit had given him a ride to Christensen's grandfather's farm because Christensen's truck would not start. (TT III, p. 120 L16 - p. 121 L18). After asking her son for more details about his encounter with Bortvit, Denise became suspicious and confronted her son about what had happened. (TT III, p. 126 L24 - p. 127 L4). Christensen replied that he and Bortvit had gotten into a fight, Christensen had gotten scared and hit Thomas with a rock. (TT III, p. 127 L20 - p. 128 L25).

Dean Christensen, engaged in the search for Bortvit, also learned that police were attempting to contact Lee and himself sent a text to either his son or Denise. (TT III, p. 42 L12 - p. 43 L17). After speaking with his mother, Christensen called his father from the airport and told his father that he knew where Bortvit was. (TT III, p. 130 L4-21). Waving down Estherville police officers, and still while on the phone with his son, Dean informed officers that he knew where Bortvit was and that his son had killed him. (TT I, p. 229 L25 – p. 231 L9). Dean got into a patrol car with police and, using directions he was receiving from his son, drove to a quarry outside of town where Bortvit's body was located in a pasture. (TT I, p. 231 L1 – p. 235 L2). Christensen had told his father over the phone that he had shot Bortvit with a gun at the farm and that the gun was in his room at home. (TT III, p. 47 L3 – p. 48 L10; p. 58 L8-18; p. 52 L16-23). Christensen's mother made immediate plans to fly back home, with the quickest flight getting them to Minneapolis. (TT III, p. 130 L22 – p. 131 L9). Upon landing in Minneapolis early in the morning of June 8, 2015, Christensen was arrested by airport security and police without incident. (TT I, p. 196 L10-17; p. 215 L14 – p. 216 L2).

Investigators executing a warrant at the Christensen residence located a .45-caliber pistol, ammunition, clothing and Bortvit's wallet in Christensen's room and bloodstained boots in the lower level of the residence. (Trial Transcript Vol. II, hereinafter "TT II," p. 48 L2-22; p. 51 L23-25; p. 52 L15 – p. 53 L9; p. 54 L5-19; p. 56 L12 – p. 57 L24). A search of the Christensen farm yielded three .45-caliber cartridge cases and three slugs. (TT II, p. 39 L9-20). The trunk of Bortvit's car contained clothing and other paraphernalia covered with blood. (TT II, p. 70 L1 – p. 71 L17). Bortvit's autopsy revealed that he had died from multiple gunshot wounds and that his body exhibited bruising and abrasions that could have been inflicted in a fight. (TT II, p. 135 L16 – p. 137 L5; p. 171 L2-13; p. 188 L25 – p. 189 L11). A projectile retrieved from Bortvit's body was traced to the pistol found in Christensen's room, as were the shell casing recovered at his grandfather's farm. (TT II, p. 140 L14 – 141 L7; p. 164 L5-12; Trial Transcript Vol. IV, hereinafter "TT IV," p. 81 L5-14; p. 86 L11 – p. 88 L3; p. 197 L23 – p. 98 L4). Forensic testing of the firearm revealed Bortvit's (but not Christensen's) DNA on the grip of the gun, although examiners did not screen the gun for the presence of blood or test for other biologic sources of the DNA. A journal Christensen left at Cayley Fehr's home sometime before he left for Arizona showed that he had been deeply depressed and suicidal. (TT III, p. 187 L2 – p. 188 L21).

Christensen did not testify at trial in his own defense.

Further facts will be developed in the course of Christensen's argument.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING CHRISTENSEN'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON JURY MISCONDUCT AND JURY BIAS

A. <u>Standard of Review and Preservation of Error</u>. The Court reviews a denial of a motion for new trial based upon juror misconduct or juror bias for an abuse of discretion, *State v. Webster*, 865 N.W.2d 223, 231 (Iowa 2015); *State v. Hendrickson*, 444 N.W.2d 468, 472 (Iowa 1989) (juror misconduct and bias), although when constitutional issues are involved the Court has reviewed fact-finding de novo. *Webster* at 231 n.4. An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's action is exercised on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or unreasonable under the circumstances. *State v. Cullen*, 357 N.W.2d 24, 27 (Iowa 1984); *State v. Harrington*, 349 N.W.2d 758, 761 (Iowa 1984).

Christensen preserved error by moving during trial for removal of a juror deemed biased (TT V, p. 14 L20 – p. 17 L2), and by moving for a new trial based on the trial court's denial of the motion. (Motion for New Trial, App. 24). He further preserved error in his motion for new trial on grounds that the jury had engaged in misconduct. (Motion for New Trial; App. 24).

B. <u>Legal Principles</u>

1. <u>Motion for New Trial</u>. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(9), provides that the court may grant a new trial when "the defendant has not received a fair and impartial trial." Likewise, Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(2) provides that the court may grant a new trial if "the jury has received any evidence...not authorized by the court." A new trial may also be granted when the jury "has been guilty of any misconduct tending to prevent a fair and just consideration of the case." Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(3).

2. <u>Juror Misconduct and Juror Bias</u>. Juror misconduct and juror bias are related, overlapping, but analytically distinct concepts.

18

Juror misconduct ordinarily relates to actions of a juror, often contrary to the court's instructions or admonitions, which impair the integrity of the fact-finding process at trial. Typical acts of misconduct include communication with others outside the jury about the case, independently investigating the crime or accident scenes outside of judicial oversight, or engaging in independent research about questions of law or fact. **Juror bias**, on the other hand, focuses on the ability of a juror to impartially consider questions raised at trial. A biased juror is simply unable to come to a fair decision in a case based upon the facts and law presented at trial. A juror may be biased without engaging in any kind of misconduct. Conversely, an impartial and fair-minded juror may nonetheless engage in juror misconduct. State v. Webster, 865 N.W.2d 223, 232 (Iowa 2015) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In order to be entitled to a new trial based upon juror *misconduct*, the (1) evidence from the jurors must consist only of objective facts as to what actually occurred in or out of the jury room bearing on misconduct; (2) the acts or statements complained of must exceed tolerable bounds of jury deliberations; and (3) it must appear the misconduct was calculated to, and with reasonable probability did, influence the verdict.

State v. Cullen, 357 N.W.2d 24, 27 (Iowa 1984). Iowa R. Evid. 5.606(b) allows the court to consider statements by jurors regarding extraneous prejudicial information or outside influence that was brought to bear on the

jury, but excludes evidence of internal deliberations of the jury. *Ryan v. Arneson*, 422 N.W.2d 491, 495 (Iowa 1988) (clarifying the first *Cullen* prong to exclude evidence of internal deliberations of the jury); *Webster* at 234. Communication with third parties about the merits of the case outside the confines of jury deliberations is a form of misconduct. *Webster* at 236.

Juror *bias* may be actual or implied. Actual juror bias occurs when the evidence shows that a juror, in fact, is unable to lay aside prejudices and judge a case fairly on the merits. Implied bias arises when the relationship of a prospective juror to a case is so troublesome that the law presumes a juror would not be impartial. *Webster* at 236. "[A] jury consisting of eleven impartial jurors and one actually biased juror is constitutionally infirm without any showing that there was juror misconduct which was 'calculated to, and with reasonable probability did, influence the verdict." Id. at 237 (quoting Cullen at 27). As the Court made clear in Webster, a juror who violates the admonitions of the court and communicates with another through social media about the case "certainly raises questions about [the juror's] ability to be an impartial juror." Webster at 239 (trial juror "liked" comment by victim's stepmother on Facebook prior to guilty verdict).

It is hornbook law that conduct by the jury that raises the spectre of outside influence on the jury's deliberations threatens a defendant's right to

20

a fair trial before an unbiased decision-maker as guaranteed by the Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I,

Sections 9 and 10, of the Iowa Constitution. Parker v. Gladden, 385 U.S.

363, 364, 87 S. Ct. 468, 470, 17 L.Ed.2d 420, 422 (1966); Webster at 233.

C. <u>Presumption of prejudice</u>. The United States Supreme Court

highlighted in Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 229, 74 S. Ct. 450,

451, 98 L.Ed.2d 654, 656 (1954),

In a criminal case, any private communication, contact, or tampering, directly or indirectly, with a juror during a trial about the matter pending before the jury is, for obvious reasons, deemed presumptively prejudicial, if not made in pursuance of known rules of the court and the instructions and directions of the court made during the trial, with full knowledge of the parties. The presumption is not conclusive, but the burden rests heavily upon the Government to establish, after notice to and hearing of the defendant, that such contact with the juror was harmless to the defendant.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit observed in

United States v. Lawson, 677 F.3d 629, 643 (4th Cir. 2012), that the Second,

Seventh, Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh Circuits continue to apply the *Remmer*

presumption in cases involving external influences on jurors, while the Fifth,

Sixth, Eighth, and District of Columbia Circuits have largely departed from

use of the presumption. See also, Fredrickson, "Conformity in Confusion:

Applying a Common Analysis to Wikipedia-Based Jury Misconduct," 9

Wash. J. L. Tech. & Arts 19, 24 (2013).

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