IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-0085

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

LEE SAMUEL CHRISTENSEN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR EMMET COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DAVID A. LESTER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

KELLI HUSER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
kelli.huser2@iowa.gov

DOUG HANSEN
Emmet County Attorney

COLEMAN MCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

she had not made a decision yet. Instead, the discussion with the juror shows that the person who reported on the juror may have intentionally made a false report. The report was tied back to a person named Koons. Trial Tr. II, lines 3-9; 12, lines 15-25. When asked about this person, the juror explained that “my son put his brother or one of the Koons boys in prison, you know. And that may be where it came from. I don’t know.” Trial Tr. V p. 12, lines 15-22.

But even if the juror made a prior statement about the defendant’s guilt, this Court should credit the district court’s credibility finding that Juror Budach remained an impartial juror. Though she equivocated on a prior statement she may have made, the district court recognized that “she did again state here on the record, looking me in the eye, that she has not made up her mind about Mr. Christensen’s guilt or innocence.” Trial Tr. V p. 16, lines 8-23. The defendant fails to show that Juror Budach was biased. Instead, the record shows that the juror did not hold a fixed opinion of his guilt and therefore served impartially on the jury.

B. The district court did not abuse its discretion because the jurors' testimony showed they did not discuss the threat until after the verdict.

No juror testified during the hearing that he or she personally logged into Facebook and saw a threat to juror safety. Instead, the jurors' statements as a whole show that at most, a juror's relative had discovered information about a threat, told the juror, and that juror related the threat to some of the jury after the verdict. Yet even if the jury knew about the threat before the verdict, there is no reasonable probability it affected the verdict. The defense theory urged a second-degree murder conviction, the jury's verdict was second-degree murder, and the evidence was strong that the defendant killed the victim. The district court's ruling denying a new trial was not an abuse of discretion.

The alleged misconduct here is the jurors' exposure to a threat to their safety, either through social media or through conversations in the community. *See Christensen Br. 39.* Juror misconduct relates to a juror's actions that impair the integrity of the fact-finding process. *Webster*, 865 N.W.2d at 231. Often the action is contrary to the trial court's admonitions, but is insufficient alone to show juror misconduct to require a mistrial. *See id.* (noting that the juror action

must impair the integrity of the fact-finding process). Threats to the jurors' safety do not automatically create a juror misconduct problem that requires a new trial. *See State v. Fenton*, 620 P.2d 813, 818 (Kan. 1980) (finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied a motion for new trial because only three jurors testified they heard about the defendant's threat to their safety prior to jury deliberation, nine jurors did not hear about the threat until after the verdict, and all jurors stated that the threat did not affect their decision).

Under Iowa law, a defendant must satisfy three prongs to show juror misconduct:

(1) evidence from the jurors must consist only of objective facts as to what actually occurred in or out of the jury room bearing on misconduct; (2) the acts or statements complained of must exceed tolerable bounds of jury deliberation; and (3) it must appear the misconduct was calculated to, and with reasonable probability did, influence the verdict.

Webster, 865 N.W.2d at 234, clarified by *Ryan v. Arneson*, 422 N.W.2d 491, 495 (Iowa 1988)).

1. *No juror testified that he or she directly saw a threat through social media.*

The alleged misconduct here is that some jurors learned of a threat to their safety, but substantial evidence shows that any misconduct was not through a juror violating the social media admonition. The jurors' testimony shows that one juror spoke to her granddaughter, and the granddaughter relayed that she—the granddaughter—saw a threat on Facebook. Another juror heard from a community member about a threat to the jury's safety. None of the testimony shows that a juror saw a threat by violating the district court's social media admonition.

Half of the jurors had no recollection of someone mentioning a threat from social media. Three jurors did not recall any comments about a riot or public disturbance. Jury Poll p. 5, lines 2-25 (Juror Gregori); Jury Poll 33, lines 17-25; 26, lines 3-25; 27, lines 1-5 (Juror Budach); 34, lines 1-10 (Juror Diekmann). Juror Kirchner overheard someone else in the community discussing a threat. Jury Poll p. 18, lines 17-25; 19, lines 1-13; 20, lines 12-20. Juror Schmidt believed any perceived threat came generally from the tension and emotions in the courtroom from the families. Jury Poll 31, lines 16-19; 32, lines 18-25; 33, lines 1-2. Juror Johnson remembered that someone was upset

about a possible riot but did not know where the juror had heard the information. Jury Poll 40, lines 7-22.

Of the remaining jurors, the most specific information came from Juror Sander, who explained that knowledge of any threat was second-hand. Another juror had spoken to her granddaughter, the granddaughter relayed something about a threat on social media, and the juror had relayed the threat to some of the other jurors. Jury Poll 14, lines 12-25; 15, lines 1-12. Four other jurors corroborated that the juror did not directly see a social media post, but had heard about a threat from someone else. Jury Poll 21, lines 19-25; 22, line 1 (Juror Lobato); Jury Poll 24, lines 15-25; 25, line 1 (Juror Arneson); Jury Poll 28, lines 13-21; 29, lines 4-12 (Juror Fontenot); 35, lines 18-25; 36, lines 1-20 (Juror Hinshaw). Only Juror Walter believed that two female jurors had directly seen a threat on Facebook, a statement not corroborated by any of the other jurors. Jury Poll p. 9, lines 1-5.

This record does not show that any juror violated the social media admonition and saw the threat. Instead, the issue is if the knowledge of the threat from another person was extraneous information that created jury misconduct.

2. *The district court did not abuse its discretion when it found that the jurors did not discuss the threat during jury deliberations.*

Under *Cullen*, the defendant must show that any statement about a threat was outside the bounds of tolerable jury deliberations. Three jurors did not know about a threat. Four jurors not hear about the threat until after the verdict. One juror heard about the threat from the community generally but did not tell the rest of the jury, and the remaining jurors were uncertain of the timing. Because this is substantial evidence to support the district court's ruling that the threats were not discussed during jury deliberations, the defendant fails to show this prong.

Outside information relayed to the jury before or during jury deliberations exceeds the permissible bounds of jury deliberation. *State v. Johnson*, 445 N.W.2d at 342. In *Johnson*, a juror told the other jurors that one of the defendant's victims "broke down" and cried in front of a teacher at school and had heard rumors that the defendant hit the victims. *Id.* at 339. The Iowa Supreme Court determined that the juror's statements "improperly furnished information to other members of the jury" prior to the verdict and thus violated the boundaries of jury deliberation. *Id.* at 342.

This case is not like *Johnson* because the district court concluded from its credibility findings that no juror discussed the threat during jury deliberations. This conclusion is sound. Three jurors did not recall any discussion of a riot or public disturbance at any point during jury service. Jury Poll p. 5, lines 2-25 (Juror Gregori); Jury Poll 33, lines 17-25; 34, lines 1-10 (Juror Diekmann); Jury Poll 26, lines 3-25; 27, lines 1-5 (Juror Budach). Four jurors believed they did not discuss the threat until after the verdict. Jury Poll 9, lines 6-21 (Juror Walter); 25, lines 2-8 (Juror Arneson); 28, lines 8-21 (Juror Fontenot); 3, lines 5-15 (Juror Johnson). One juror was aware of a threat because she had overheard a member of the community say something, but she did not share what she heard with the jury. Jury Poll 18, lines 17-25; 19, lines 1-16 (Juror Kirchner). Two other jurors could not recall the timing of the threat. Jury Poll 21, lines 19-25; 22, lines 1-12 (Juror Lobato); 31, lines 3-8 (Juror Schmidt). . One juror said there was a comment about a possible riot but only said the comment was prior to announcing the verdict, not necessarily before deliberations. Jury Poll 35, lines 18-24 (Juror Hinshaw).

The district court's finding shows that it discounted the credibility of the remaining juror. This finding is justified because the last juror equivocated on when the statement was made. Initially she said it was after the verdict. Jury Poll 12, lines 3-17 (Juror Sander). Then she said it was a few days before the verdict. Jury Poll 12, lines 21-25; 13, lines 1-5. Then she said it was "[d]uring the time we were in the jury room. I have no idea how – when it was." Jury Poll 13, lines 12-15. This juror was also confident that another juror had talked to the judge about the Facebook post several days prior to the verdict, which the district court expressly discounted. Jury Poll 13, lines 16-20; 16, lines 9-17.

Substantial evidence supposed that the jurors did not discuss the threat during jury deliberations. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it found the defendant failed to meet the second *Cullen* prong.

3. *The district court did not abuse its discretion when it found no reasonable probability that the threat affected the verdict.*

The defendant also fails to show the third *Cullen* prong because the jurors who remembered a threat did not take the threat seriously and the evidence of the defendant's guilt was strong. For the third

prong, the defendant must show that “the misconduct was calculated to, and with reasonable probability did, influence the verdict.” See *Cullen*, 357 N.W.2d at 27. “The difference between a possibility and a reasonable probability is significant.” See *id.* at 28.

The reviewing court may look at the influence of the extraneous information in light of witnesses’ demeanors, the trial evidence, and the issues presented to determine the impact of the jury misconduct. *Johnson*, 445 N.W.2d at 342. *Doe v. Johnston*, 476 N.W.2d 28, 35 (Iowa 1991) (“We are still convinced that the trial court is in the best position to objectively assess the impact of juror misconduct.”). A defendant did not show a reasonable probability of information influencing the jury’s sexual abuse verdict when the victims reported sexual abuse to a third person and the juror’s improper statements did not relate to the sexual abuse. *Id.* A defendant did not show a reasonable probability a statement affected the jury verdict when the jurors discussed information that was not introduced at trial, specifically that the defendant had previously shot his brother, but there were only bare assertions that the shooting was mentioned during deliberations and there was no hint of the extent of the discussion. *State v. Harrington*, 349 N.W.2d 758, 762-63 (Iowa

1984) abrogated on other grounds by *Ryan v. Arneson*, 422 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 1988).

The defendant fails to show a reasonable probability that a threat to the jurors' safety affected the verdict. Of the jurors who remembered a threat, several of the jurors were dismissive of the threat. One juror thought the threat "sounded ridiculous." Jury Poll 18, lines 22-25; 19, lines 1-9 (Juror Kirchner). Another juror remembered "[t]here was a comment made, but it was fairly dismissed" and explained that no one really reacted to the comment or said much about it. Jury Poll 21, lines 19-25; 22, line 1; 23, lines 3-8 (Juror Lobato). One juror did not believe the threat was dependent on any specific verdict. Jury Poll 10, lines 16-24. Only one juror was described as upset and she did not hear about a threat until after the verdict. Jury Poll 28, lines 8-25 (Juror Fortenot) 40, lines 7-22 (Juror Johnson identifying Juror Fortenot by first name as the juror who was upset and requested an escort to her vehicle after the verdict).

Even if the jurors were aware of any safety concerns prior to deliberations, it appears they were generally concerned that any decision they made would upset a portion of the community. There

was “obviously tension in the courtroom.” Jury Poll 9, lines 6-15. After the verdict, jurors asked for a police presence to walk them to their cars. Jury Poll 8, lines 7-11. The district court explained that it had made arrangements for law enforcement after the verdict because jurors had expressed concerns about all of the family members and the public attending trial, and were concerned that they could be confronted when leaving the courthouse. Jury Poll 43, lines 12-25; 44, line 1. These statements do not show a reasonable probability that the threat affected the jurors’ decision-making.

There is also no reasonable probability that a threat impacted the verdict when the prosecution’s evidence of murder was so strong and the defense theory was that it was second-degree murder, not a premeditated killing. The defendant’s defense at trial was to admit that he killed the victim but that he acted rashly instead of in a premeditated manner. Trial Tr. I p. 35, lines 2-8. His defense succeeded. The jury convicted him of second degree murder instead. Verdict; App. 23. It is unreasonable to believe that a comment about the jurors’ safety—which one juror believed was a “ridiculous” threat—was the reason the jury convicted the defendant when the defendant’s whole theory was that he did kill the victim. The

defendant admitted to both of his parents and his ex-girlfriend that he harmed the victim. Trial Tr. III p. 46, line 25; 47, lines 1-25; 48, lines 1-10; 56, lines 21-25; 57, lines 1-9; 58, lines 8-15; 127, lines 9-25; 128, lines 1-25; 129, lines 15-17; Exhibit 189. The gun and ammunition were discovered in the defendant's home. Trial Tr. II p. 52, lines 1-23. A bloodstain on the defendant's blue jeans and bloodstains on boots from the defendant's home were consistent with the victim's blood. Trial Tr. II p. 55, line 25; 56, lines 1-4; 203, lines 6-14; 204, lines 12-25; 205, lines 1-13. The victim texted his ex-girlfriend that he gave the defendant a ride home on the day of his murder, and the evidence showed that the victim was killed during a narrow window consistent with when he was with the defendant. Exhibit 188. The defendant was upset that his ex-girlfriend was dating the victim and kept trying to win back the ex-girlfriend. Trial Tr. III p. 278, line 25; 279, lines 1-25; 280, lines 1-10. With this amount of evidence, there is no reasonable probability that a vague threat affected the jury verdict.

II. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion Because the Curative Instruction and Admonitions Cured Any Error.

Preservation of Error

Error is not preserved on either prosecutorial misconduct claim. The defendant did not ask for a ruling on prosecutorial misconduct from the district court during trial, and the district court did not apply any of the factors for prosecutorial misconduct. Instead, the defendant generally objected to the prosecution's question to witness Tara Scott as an improper comment on the burden of proof. Trial Tr. II p. 215, lines 9-25; 216, lines 1-25; 217, line 1. The district court determined the question was improper, struck the testimony, and gave a curative instruction but did not apply the *Graves* factors to determine prejudice. Trial Tr. II p. 219, lines 4-7.

Similarly, the defendant failed to ask for a ruling on prosecutorial misconduct from the district court regarding criminalist Wagner. While the defendant insinuated that the prosecutor knew the testimony was false, he did not specifically ask for a ruling on prosecutorial misconduct. Trial Tr. IV p. 7, lines 21-25; 8, line 1. Error is not preserved on either issue.

Standard of Review

Trial courts have broad discretion on prosecutorial misconduct claims. *State v. Greene*, 592 N.W.2d 24, 30 (Iowa 1999). Appellate courts review the district court's ruling for abuse of discretion for denials of mistrial motions based on prosecutorial misconduct. *Id.*

Merits

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